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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

 

 

JOHN BUENO,       ) 

         ) Case No.  

    Plaintiff,    ) 

         ) 

v.         ) 

         ) Judge:     

         )  

THE CITY OF DES PLAINES,     )        

            ) Magistrate Judge:     

           ) 

         )        Jury Demand 

    Defendant.    ) 

 

 

COMPLAINT 

 

 Plaintiff, John Bueno (“Plaintiff”),through the undersigned attorney, complains of the 

Defendant, City of Des Plaines, (“Des Plaines”), as follows: 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

 1. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(a)(4).  

Employee is alleging racial discrimination and related retaliation under Title VII of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., and the Civil Rights Act of 1866, 42 

U.S.C. § 1981.   

 

 2. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(3) and 28 

U.S.C. § 1391(b) as Defendant is located and doing business in this judicial district and as the 

acts complained of all occurred within this judicial district. 

 

PARTIES 

 

 3. Plaintiff is an adult male resident of the Northern District of Illinois who works 

for the City of Des Plaines from April 2, 2002 to present. At various times leading to this action, 
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Plaintiff was suspended with pay, suspended without pay and eventually reinstated to his 

position by a labor arbitrator.  

 

 4. Plaintiff is of Mexican ancestry, speaks Spanish and was born in the United 

States.   

 

 5. At all times relevant, Defendant the City of Des Plaines and its police 

headquarters are located in Des Plaines, Illinois.   

 

 6.      At all relevant times, Defendant had fifteen or more employees for each working 

day in each of twenty or more calendar weeks in both 2011 and the preceding calendar year, and 

each is an “employer” for purposes of Title VII and Section 1981. 

 

 

PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS 

 

 8. In November 14, 2011 and March 29, 2012, Plaintiff filed two separate (2) 

Charges of Discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC") 

against Defendant, City of Des Plaines, satisfying the requirements of 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(b) 

and (e).  Plaintiff’s Charge(s) was/were timely filed with the EEOC within 300 days of the 

subject unlawful employment practices.   

 

 9. On or about April 29, 2013, the EEOC issued Plaintiff his Notice of Right-to-Sue 

letter with respect to her Charge(s) of Discrimination and this action has been timely brought less 

than 90 days after her receipt thereof.  

 

SALIENT FACTS 

 

 10. Plaintiff was hired as a police officer with the City of Des Plaines on April 2, 

2002. 

 

 11. During his time as a police officer with Defendant, Plaintiff held several positions 

including, but limited to, patrol officer and undercover/plain clothes officer.  
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 12.   At all times relevant, Plaintiff was subjected to a series of adverse and 

discriminatory actions, including, inter alia, unwelcome, humiliating and offensive racial slurs 

and anti-Hispanic comments and misconduct by the Defendant thru Plaintiff’s Commanding 

Officer, Richard Rozkuszka (“Rozkuszka”). These remarks included, but were not limited to, 

being repeatedly referred to as “the dirty Mexican”, the “Mexican”, and “Puerto Rican”. 

 

 13. Plaintiff was also physically abused by Rozkuszka in effort to intimidate and 

humiliate him. 

 

 14. Pursuant to Defendant’s internal policies, Plaintiff made repeated complaints 

about the said harassment and discrimination,. The complaints were made to then Chief of 

Police, James Prandini (“Prandini”). 

 

 15. Despite Prandini’s assurances that the situation would be rectified, Rozkuszka 

continued to harass the Plaintiff on the basis of Plaintiff’s Hispanic origin.  

 

 16. The following year, in May 2011, Plaintiff filed a written complaint with Prandini 

about the continued harassment and derogatory behavior he continued to receive from 

Rozkuszka. 

 

  17. Following the written complaint, Plaintiff was suspended from the department. 

The suspension was to begin on October 31, 2011. The suspension was related to events that 

occurred approximately twenty-four (24) months earlier.      

 

 18. In view of the forgoing, Defendant knew or should have known about the ongoing 

harassment and discrimination and had a duty to prevent and/or rectify same. 

 

 19. Plaintiff was then unfairly and/or unlawfully suspended from his position as a 

police officer, without pay, pending termination through a union arbitration hearing. Ultimately, 
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Plaintiff prevailed at the arbitration and was ordered reinstated to his position as a police officer. 

At the time of filing, Defendant has not reinstated Plaintiff to his position.   

COUNT I 

 

DISCRIMINATION AND RETALIATION IN VIOLATION 

OF TITLE VII 

 

 1. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges paragraphs 1 - 19 above as paragraph 1 of Count I. 

 

 2. The aforesaid conduct by Defendant City of Des Plaines was unlawful, intentional 

and motivated by a discriminatory animus toward Plaintiff because of his Hispanic race and/or 

by his related complaints of discrimination and harassment. 

 

 3.   Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, prohibits discriminatory 

treatment in employment based upon, inter alia, a covered employee’s, race, and/or retaliation 

for complaining, reporting or protesting about such discrimination.  

 

 4. The above described conduct by The City of Des Plaines was intentional, 

substantially interfered with Plaintiff’s employment, and constituted discrimination and/or 

retaliation in violation of Title VII. 

 

 5. In further violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, The City of Des 

Plaines failed to take any effective remedial or corrective action to prevent, fairly investigate or 

rectify said discrimination, harassment and/or retaliation, or properly train its staff about the 

prohibitions of Title VII, as amended.  

 

 6. All of the aforementioned conduct denied Plaintiff the protection and civil rights 

guaranteed by Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, as amended. 

 

 7. As a direct and proximate result of said unlawful employment practices and 

disregard for Plaintiff’s rights and dignity, he has lost compensation and benefits and has also 

suffered emotional distress, humiliation and anxiety about his ability to support himself and his 
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family. Also his anxiety relates to his future employability and earning capacity, as well as the 

disruption of his personal and family life. 

 

 8. The above-described conduct by The City of Des Plaines was also willful and/or 

in reckless disregard for Plaintiff’s federal rights and warrants imposition of punitive damages as 

authorized by Title VII. 

 

Relief Sought 

 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that this Court grant the following relief in her favor and 

against Defendant City of Des Plaines:  

 

 A. Award Plaintiff his appropriate back pay and future 

earnings, and reimbursement for other employment related losses, 

plus interest so as to render him whole from the unlawful 

discrimination and/or retaliation. 

 

 B. Award Plaintiff compensatory damages for 

emotional stress, humiliation and anxiety, and/or for punitive 

damages, in a total amount of $300,000, or in an amount to be 

shown at trial, as authorized by law. 

 

 C. Award Plaintiff his costs of litigation, including 

witness fees and reasonable attorney's fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 

2000e-5(k). 

 

 D. Grant Plaintiff any additional relief that is 

warranted. 

 

COUNT II 

 

RACIAL DISCRIMINATION AND RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF § 1981 

 

 1. Plaintiff adopts and incorporates paragraph 1 of Count I above as paragraph 1 of 

Count II. 

 

 2. The effect of the policies and the practices complained of above has been 

discriminatory, and to deprive Plaintiff of equal employment opportunities to make and enforce 

contracts, and otherwise adversely affected his status as an employee, including   because of his 

race Hispanic, in violation of 42 U.S.C. Section 1981. 
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 3. Plaintiff also suffered from prohibited retaliation as a result of his complaints and 

protests about the underlying racial discrimination, as alleged above, which retaliation also 

violates 42 U.S.C. Section 1981.   

 

 4. As a direct and proximate result of said unlawful employment practices and 

disregard for Plaintiff's rights and dignity, as alleged, Plaintiff has lost wages and compensation, 

and has also suffered emotional distress, humiliation and anxiety about his ability to support 

himself and his family. Plaintiff has also suffered humiliation and anxiety about his future 

employability and earning capacity, as well as the disruption of his personal life. 

 

 5. Plaintiff has suffered irreparable injury from the Defendant’s policies, practices 

and usages as set forth herein, which were in direct violation of the Civil Rights Act of 1866, 42 

U.S.C. § 1981. 

 

Relief Sought 

 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that this Court grant the following relief in his favor and 

against Defendant City of Des Plaines: 

 

 A. Award Plaintiff his lost compensation and   

  employment benefits and lost interest thereon, and  

  damages for emotional pain, humiliation and  

  anxiety, in excess of $300,000.00, all in an amount  

  to be proven at trial. 

 

 B. Award him punitive damages in an amount to be  

  determined at trial; 

 

 C. Grant him reasonable attorney’s fees and costs; and 

 

 D.        Grant him any additional relief that is warranted. 

 

 

 

          PLAINTIFF DEMANDS A TRIAL BY JURY ON ALL COUNTS 
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Dated: July 25,2013 

 

    Respectfully Submitted, 

 

    JOHN BUENO 

    

    By:___/s/Joshua N Karmel___________ 

     

    Joshua N. Karmel – Atty ID: 6208369 

    One of Mr. Bueno’s Attorneys 

    The Law Offices of Joshua N. Karmel 

    221 N. LaSalle St. #2900 

    Chicago, IL 60601 

    Phone: 312-575-0666 

    Fax: 312-641-0781 
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